RECEIVED 06-16-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP2357-LV

In the matter of the commitment of:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Petitioner-Petitioner,

v.

ANTHONY JAMES JENDUSA,

Respondent-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF A PETITION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL A NONFINAL ORDER OF THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH R. WALL, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER-PETITIONER

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Petitioner-Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The circuit court ordered the Department of Corrections to provide Anthony Jendusa's attorney with a complete, unredacted database containing private information of over 1400 people. It further ordered a psychologist to use the data to research the recidivism rate of Wisconsin sex offenders, so that Jendusa can have the results of that research project to use in his chapter 980 sexually violent person commitment trial. It did so under the guise of discovery.

The order is far beyond a circuit court's authority in a chapter 980 proceeding and has four fatal flaws: (1) it does not come within chapter 980's discovery statute; (2) the information is not in the state's possession within the meaning of the discovery statute; (3) the order violates federal and state privacy laws; (4) and it meets no part of the test for disclosure under Brady v. Maryland, which does not apply to civil proceedings.

The court of appeals created a fifth issue by summarily denying the State's petition for leave to appeal without exercising its discretion.

To be clear, the State does not object to Jendusa's attorney or expert obtaining the data through DOC's research request protocols. Indeed, Jendusa's attorney was approved to have this data released to him and simply never followed up with DOC. But Jendusa cannot shoehorn the data into the chapter 980 discovery statutes and inapposite criminal case law as a way to avoid the protocol, which was designed to ensure that DOC does not violate state and federal privacy laws.

Jendusa has no statutory or due process right to have an expert use a particular comparison sample to evaluate him for trial, let alone a right to have the state provide the private

data of others to create one. This Court should reverse the decision of the circuit court.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Does the circuit court have authority to order DOC or its employees to provide a chapter 980 respondent with data that satisfies none of the discovery provisions of Wis. Stat. § 980.036?

The circuit court was unsure whether it had such authority. It granted Jendusa's motion without identifying an applicable chapter 980 discovery provision.

This Court should reverse the decision of the circuit court because the permissible scope of discovery is strictly delineated in section 980.036.

2. Does DOC, a non-investigatory, non-prosecutorial state agency that is not a party to a chapter 980 proceeding, fall under the umbrella of "the state" for the purposes of the chapter 980 discovery statutes such that anything DOC or its employees possess is in the state's possession?

The circuit court implicitly accepted Jendusa's argument that discovery provisions of chapter 980 entitle Jendusa to information about 1400 offenders in DOC possession.

This Court decides cases on the narrowest possible grounds, and it need not, and should not, reach this question. But if this Court reaches the question, it should reverse the decision of the circuit court.

3. Does the release of the protected treatment and identifying information of 1400 DOC inmates to Jendusa violate Wisconsin or federal laws that protect the privacy of such information?

The circuit court and Jendusa thought that some privacy issues could arise if the data were released, but believed they could be cured by a protective order despite having no specific order prepared or entered.

This Court should reverse the decision of the circuit court because both federal and state law prohibit disclosure under these circumstances.

Does Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), 4. impose any duty on a prosecutor in sexually violent person commitment trials?

The circuit court did not address this question.

This Court should reserve ruling on this question for a case that properly presents it and where it cannot be avoided. If this Court opts to address the question, it should hold that *Brady* does not apply to civil chapter 980 proceedings.

Did the court of appeals erroneously exercise its discretion in denying the State's petition for leave to appeal the order ordering DOC to turn this database over to Jendusa?

This Court should hold that the court of appeals erroneously exercised its discretion in denying the State leave to appeal because the denial contains no rationale showing any exercise of discretion, and no reasonable jurist could conclude that the petition met none of the permissive appeal criteria.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

As with any case significant enough to warrant this Court's review, and publication oral argument are appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State appeals from a circuit court order to release the confidential treatment information from 1400 patients in Anthony Jendusa's sexually violent person commitment proceeding. On December 14, 2016, the State filed a petition to commit Jendusa for treatment as a sexually violent person following his sentence for a series of sexual assaults and related acts he committed in the 1980s and 1990s. (R. 1.) Jendusa sought the data after the court found probable cause following a preliminary hearing. (R. 21, Pet'r's App. 102–07; 43:72.)

The data includes the identifying information for all of these inmates, their AODA diagnoses, their scores on the various actuarial tests used, whether they have a paraphilia, whether they've been diagnosed with psychosis, mood disorders, anxiety, ADHD, pervasive developmental disorder, medical conditions, adjustment disorders, PTSD, and whether they've been committed. (R. 23.) All of this information was gleaned from the inmates' treatment records used for the Special Purpose Evaluations conducted by DOC's chapter 980 unit. (R. 45:12–15.)

Discussion about the treatment information arose during cross-examination at the probable cause hearing. The State called Dr. Christopher Tyre, a psychologist and supervisor of the DOC Chapter 980 Forensic Evaluation Unit, to testify. (R. 43.) He explained the evaluation method he uses and testified about the strengths, weaknesses, interpretation, and meaning of Jendusa's results on actuarial tools. (R. 43:28–44.) On cross-examination, Jendusa asked Tyre about the base recidivism rates of the comparison samples used in these tools. (R. 43:60.) Tyre explained that the base rate of reoffense changed depending on the sample selected. (R. 43:61–62.) Jendusa then asked about the base rate in Wisconsin. (R. 43:62.) Dr. Tyre said the 980 evaluation unit

Filed 06-16-2020

at DOC "keeps track of all the evaluations," but he was not aware of a completed study on such a group. (R. 43:64–65.) Jendusa then asked if Dr. Tyre personally was "working on any research on this data?" (R. 43:65.) Dr. Tyre replied that he "did start a research project with Dr. Caldwell and two other evaluators that are with the department of health services." (R. 43:65.) He said that the data "was run through CCAP, but I have not seen any of the results of that information yet." (R. 43:65.)

Shortly thereafter, Jendusa filed a "Motion to Disclose Data for Analysis." (R. 21, Pet'r's App. 102–07.) This motion asked the court to order "the State and the Wisconsin Department of Corrections" to turn over the data that Dr. Tyre had mentioned, so Jendusa could calculate a Wisconsin-specific base recidivism rate. (R. 21:2, 5, Pet'r's App. 102, 105.) Jendusa insinuated that Dr. Tyre was lying when he said he and his colleagues had not had time to proceed with their project, and claimed Jendusa was entitled to this database to finish their project himself under the premise that it is discoverable under Wis. Stat. § 980.036(2)(h), (2)(j), and (5), and exculpatory under Brady. (R. 21:4–7, Pet'r's App. 104–07.)

The State opposed Jendusa's motion on several grounds, including that the data fell outside the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 980.036, and using a court order to conduct research improperly circumvented DOC's research protocols and compliance with HIPAA and other privacy laws. (R. 33:55–66.)

The circuit court held multiple hearings on the motion from June 26, 2018, to November 29, 2018, vacillating between denying and granting the motion. (R. 44–48.)

The June 26 Motion Hearing

The first hearing took place on June 26. The court said it was concerned about HIPAA "because it certainly appears... that these are – they are private records." (R. 44:9, Pet'r's App. 129.) The court observed that DOC has a process for obtaining and conducting research using inmates' private health records, Executive Directive 36, that established a research request protocol. (R. 44:9, Pet'r's App. 129.) Jendusa's attorney, Evan Weitz, said he did not think he was bound by Directive 36 because the request fell within the *Brady* doctrine (R. 44:9, 20, Pet'r's App. 129, 131), and he did not want to be bound by the directive's restrictions (R. 44:21, Pet'r's App. 132). The court ordered Weitz to submit a proposal through the directive, and to subpoena Dr. Tyre along with a subpoena deuces tecum for the data. (R. 44:41–42.)

The July 25 Motion Hearing

The court held an evidentiary hearing on July 25. (R. 45.) At the time of the hearing, DOC's research review committee was still considering Weitz's request. (R. 45:5.) Weitz also had pursued a subpoena for the database, but DOC legal counsel explained that federal privacy statutes, particularly 42 C.F.R. Part 2, prohibited disclosure through the subpoena. (R. 45:6–9.)

Dr. Tyre appeared. He testified that the data consists of information derived from "special purpose evaluations" of about 10% of potentially eligible offenders, identified through a screening process. (R. 45:12–13.) Of those offenders, Dr. Tyre said his unit typically found between 10% and 18% potentially met commitment criteria, amounting to roughly 1% to 2% of eligible inmates. (R. 45:14.) Dr. Tyre testified that the information was coded into a database in Microsoft Excel. (R. 45:15.)

Dr. Tyre and two colleagues from DHS, in their private, professional capacities, had submitted a research proposal to DOC and received approval to use this information to calculate a Wisconsin recidivism rate. (R. 45:41–43.) Although that preliminary data had been checked against CCAP to find inmates who had reoffended, it still needed to undergo further steps of analysis. (R. 45:28–30, Pet'r's App. 165–66.) Dr. Tyre said he did not want to turn over the partially-analyzed data from his research project "[i]n part because, . . . it would be someone essentially taking our research away from us." (R. 45:26, Pet'r's App. 163.)

Dr. Thornton, Jendusa's proposed expert, also testified. He said, "it would be nice to get the recidivism data" Dr. Tyre and his colleagues had produced and envisioned publishing the results himself. (R. 45:68, Pet'r's App. 185.) Noting that out-of-state studies showed lower sexual recidivism rates than previously expected, Dr. Thornton questioned whether Dr. Tyre's data "would lead us to think that the base rate in Wisconsin is lower than has been assumed and that would affect likely the commitment recommendations" for "people who are, as it were, on the margin." (R. 45:59.) Dr. Thornton acknowledged that he had "no idea how that would apply to the individual involved in this case." (R. 45:59.)

The court set another hearing date to discuss the testimony. (R.45:80–81.)

The July 31 Status Hearing

At the July 31 status hearing, the parties presented their respective positions.

Jendusa's counsel sought Dr. Tyre's partially-analyzed research data, now claiming he was entitled to the researchers' private data pursuant to Brady. (R. 46:6-7, Pet'r's App. 193–94.) Weitz acknowledged that DOC had approved his research request under Directive 36, but he had

not followed up with DOC. (R. 46:11, Pet'r's App. 198.) He suggested that obtaining Dr. Tyre's deidentified data would obviate the need to go through Directive 36. (R. 46:14-15.)

The State noted that Dr. Thornton had never told people not to use the existing base rates (R. 46:10, Pet'r's App. 197), and denied that Jendusa needed the data to receive a fair commitment trial (R. 46:10, Pet'r's App. 197).

The court set another hearing date for further testimony from Dr. Tyre. (R. 46:36–37.)

The November 9 Motion Hearing

Dr. Tyre testified at a hearing on November 9. (R. 47.) Dr. Tyre said he and his colleagues had not been able to coordinate their schedules to begin going through the data that had been run through CCAP and conduct their analysis. (R. 47:7–9.) Dr. Tyre said they also had "concerns" with Dr. Thornton attempting to appropriate their data because "that's not consistent with . . . how we understand research is followed." (R. 47:11.) Dr. Tyre said "sidestep[ping] the normal procedures that researchers undertake" may professional ethics. (R. 47:11, 18–23.)

Weitz complained he had not received the data from DOC even though his research request had been approved but again made no showing he had followed up with DOC. (R. 47:57–58, Pet'r's App. 201–02.) He then claimed everyone was attempting to prevent him from getting the data, which Weitz alleged was "clearly exculpatory in nature;" and asked the court to order the data turned over to him so he could give it to Dr. Thornton to complete the research. (R. 47:58–64, Pet'r's App. 202-08.)

The court granted the motion. (R. 31; 47:62–65, Pet'r's App. 121, 206–09.) The court felt an order could be drafted to protect HIPAA information and that agents had been working

Filed 06-16-2020

to keep the data from Jendusa's attorney. (R. 31; 47:62–65, Pet'r's App. 121, 206–09.)

The State filed a motion for reconsideration. (R. 29.)

The November 29 Hearing

At the hearing on the reconsideration motion, the court asked Weitz whether the data had "been determined to be exculpatory," about HIPAA concerns (R. 48:5, Pet'r's App. 213), and whether directive 36 would get the same information as through the court order (R. 48:11, Pet'r's App. 218). Weitz said the data would be exculpatory if it lowered the base rate (R. 48:5, Pet'r's App. 213), and that, even if HIPAA applied, it could be remedied through the protective order he suggested (R. 48:6). Weitz claimed that the DOC channels were insufficient (R. 48:12–13, Pet'r's App. 219–20), and that the data was constructively in the prosecution's possession because Dr. Tyre had discussed it with the prosecutor before the hearing (R. 48:19–22, Pet'r's App. 226–29). The prosecutor corrected that she had never seen, let alone had possession, of the data. (R. 48:23, Pet'r's App. 230.)

The court recognized there was a disconnect between what chapter 980 respondents were entitled to as discovery and what Jendusa's attorney sought. (R. 48:39–40.) The court agreed to stay its order, noting that there were significant statewide legal issues that needed clarification. (R. 48:41-44.)

Circuit Court Order

The court denied the State's motion to reconsider and ordered DOC to provide Weitz with "the full, un-redacted, database maintained by the DOC Chapter 980 Forensic Unit." (R. 31, Pet'r's App. 121.) It further ordered that Dr. "Thornton is to analyze the data on behalf of the Respondent." (R. 31, 121.) Finally, it said that "identifying information" for the 1400 inmates "shall be only used in so far

Filed 06-16-2020

as it is necessary to determine recidivism information." (R. 31, Pet'r's App. 121.)

Appellate Proceedings

The State petitioned for leave to appeal the order and Jendusa responded. (R. 33.) Six months later, the court of appeals denied the petition in a two-sentence order. (R. 35, Pet'r's App. 281.) Its reasoning consisted of one line, stating, "[a]fter reviewing the petition, the response, and the circuit court's order, we conclude that the petition fails to satisfy the criteria for permissive appeal." (R. 35, Pet'r's App. 281.)

The State petitioned this Court for review, which this Court granted on February 7, 2020. (R. 42.)

ARGUMENT

- I. This Court should conclude the data does not fall within any chapter 980 discovery provision.
 - Α. Standard of review and principles statutory interpretation for a statutory discovery provision.

Whether Wis. Stat. § 980.036 authorizes the circuit court to order DOC, or anyone else, to provide this data to Jendusa is a question of statutory interpretation reviewed de novo. State v. Hemp, 2014 WI 129, ¶ 12, 359 Wis. 2d 320, 856 N.W.2d 811. Questions of judicial authority are also questions of law reviewed de novo. State v. McClaren, 2009 WI 69, ¶ 14, 318 Wis. 2d 739, 767 N.W.2d 550.

Courts employ statutory interpretation to determine the meaning of a statute "so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect." State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Submission to the plain meaning of a statute requires courts to begin with the language of the statute,

which is given "its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning." $Id. \ \P \ 45.$

If the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous, the court applies the statute according to its plain meaning and the inquiry ceases. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46. "[S]tatutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Id.*

В. Wisconsin Stat. § 980.036 provides exhaustive list of the discovery available to a respondent in a chapter 980 proceeding.

"[P]retrial discovery procedures should be determined by statute or by rule of court, and should not be decided by the courts on a case-by-case basis." State ex re. Lynch v. County Court, Branch III, 82 Wis. 2d 454, 466, 262 N.W.2d 773 (1978). A circuit court has no authority to compel production of discovery that exceeds the scope of the discovery statute governing the type of case before it. *Id.*

Wisconsin Act 434, the Legislature's amendments to chapter 980 included restrictions on discovery in chapter 980 proceedings. See 2005 Wis. Act 434, § 93. Section 980.036 delineates the type of evidence discoverable in chapter 980 proceedings and loosely mirrors the criminal discovery statute, Wis. Stat. § 971.23. Section 980.036(11) clarified that chapter 804, the civil procedure discovery chapter, "does not apply to proceedings under [chapter 980]" and that Wis. Stat. § 980.036 is the "only" means of obtaining discovery in chapter 980 proceedings.

Thus, in order to be discoverable in Jendusa's chapter 980 proceeding, the data here must meet the definition of discoverable evidence under one of the subsections of Wis. Stat. § 980.036. In the circuit court, Jendusa claimed

Filed 06-16-2020

three subsections of Wis. Stat. § 980.036 entitled him to this data: Wis. Stat. §§ 980.036(2)(h), (j), and (5). The data falls under none of those subsections.

> 1. The data does not fall under Wis. Stat. \S 980.036(2)(h) because it is not the basis for any examination, test. instrument. experiment. comparison and the prosecutor had no intention to offer it in evidence.

Wisconsin Stat. § 980.036(2)(h) requires the prosecutor to disclose "any physical or mental examination or any scientific or psychological test, instrument, experiment, or comparison" results "that the prosecuting attorney intends to offer in evidence at the trial or proceeding, and any raw data that were collected, used, or considered in any manner as part of the examination, test, instrument, experiment, comparison." Wis. Stat. § 980.036(2)(h).

The data Jendusa seeks does not fall under this subsection because no "examination, . . . test, instrument, experiment, or comparison" has yet been performed using the data. Instead, Jendusa's aim is to use the data himself for his own analysis. Further, because no analysis using this data exists, the prosecutor could not "intend[] to offer in evidence" anything related to it. Wis. Stat. § 980.036(2)(h).

> 2. This database does not fall under Wis. 980.036(5) because neither Jendusa nor the State ever intended to introduce the raw data at trial.

Wisconsin Stat. § 980.036(5) does not apply for similar reasons. That subsection states that "[o]n motion of a party, the court may order the production of any item of evidence or raw data that is intended to be introduced at the trial for testing or analysis under such terms and conditions as the

Filed 06-16-2020

court prescribes." Wis. Stat. § 980.036(5). Jendusa specifically stated that he did not intend to introduce this data at trial. (R. 48:8–13.) And the State did not intend to introduce this data at the trial, either. (R. 36:8–9.).

3. This data does not fall under Wis. Stat. \S 980.036(2)(j) because it is neither evidence nor exculpatory.

Wisconsin Stat. § 980.036(2)(j) requires the prosecuting attorney to provide "[a]ny exculpatory evidence." This data is neither evidence nor exculpatory.

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