Page 1 of 62

RECEIVED 09-18-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP2357-LV

In the matter of the commitment of:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Petitioner-Petitioner,

v.

ANTHONY JAMES JENDUSA,

Respondent-Respondent.

On Appeal from an Order Denying Leave to Appeal a Nonfinal Order Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Joseph R. Wall, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF RESPONDENT-RESPONDENT

DUSTIN C. HASKELL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1071804

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 haskelld@opd.wi.gov

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

Next, the risk of erroneously detaining an individual is significant, particularly in light of Tyre's preliminary conclusion that those evaluated for SPEs in Wisconsin have a base rate for re-offense of only seven percent. (47:48-49.) Tyre concluded that Jendusa satisfied the criteria for commitment by comparing him to the recidivism rates of a group of non-American offenders. (47:50.) The base rate of recidivism amongst Wisconsin offenders suggests Tyre significantly overestimated Jendusa's risk, and creates a considerable danger that Jendusa, or another similarly situated person, could be erroneously detained. The risk of erroneous detention is magnified considerably if the state is permitted to continue suppressing the exculpatory evidence in its possession.

Finally, the state has no legitimate interest in withholding exculpatory evidence in its possession. Applying *Brady* in ch. 980 cases imposes virtually no burden on the state because it merely requires the state to disclose exculpatory evidence, which is already required by Wis. Stat. § 980.036(2)(j). Moreover, as discussed above, there is no practical concern that exculpatory information will exist outside of the DHS, the DOC, or the criminal prosecutor's file. All respondent-specific information from the DOC and DHS can readily be turned over, and generally is turned over. Insofar as the DHS or DOC engages in ch. 980-specific research, it should be prepared to disclose that information when it is exculpatory. The state has a legitimate interest in protecting the public "from those people who are likely to harm others." Edwards, 777 F. Supp. 2d at 995. But "[a]llowing the Government to trample the rights of one group weakens the rights of all of society. The Government cannot be permitted to establish such a precedent." Id. at 996.

As discussed in sections I and II of this brief, the data here is exculpatory, both because it tends to show Jendusa does not satisfy the criteria for commitment and because it could be used to impeach the state's witnesses, and the evidence is in the state's possession because it is being kept by the DOC, a state agency that is the state's preliminary investigator and advisor in ch. 980 commitments.

C. Applying *Brady* to ch. 980 commitment is consistent with practice in other jurisdictions.

This Court should adopt the reasoning from jurisdictions, Brady other applying to civil commitments of sex offenders. These courts properly liberty interest recognized the "compelling in avoiding both detainment as well as civil commitment," and the need for *Brady* protections to protect respondents' due process rights. Edwards, 777 F. Supp. 2d at 990.

The North Carolina federal district court in Edwards addressed the issue when the government failed to turn over an exculpatory report from one of its experts in a sex offender civil commitment case. Id. at 989. The court thoroughly analyzed the respondent's liberty interests, id. at 990-91, the requirements imposed by due process, *id.* at 991-95, and weighed those considerations against the countervailing government's interests in not disclosing the exculpatory evidence, id. at 995-96. The court concluded that "[o]rdinary rules of civil inadequate here because procedure are civil commitment hearings are not an ordinary civil matter. At issue is not a claim for damages or equitable relief. Instead, the issue is whether someone will be locked away." Id. at 994. Therefore,

Filed 09-18-2020

the court held that *Brady* must be applied to the civil commitment of sex offenders.

Appellate courts from Illinois and California have reached the same result. In Illinois, the court acknowledged that *Brady* generally only applied to criminal proceedings, but noted that the serious due concerns implicated by indefinite process civil commitment required more for protection respondents than for litigants in ordinary civil cases. People v. Howe, 21 N.E.3d 775, 783-84 (Ill. App. Ct. 2014). The court considered the burdens this would impose on the prosecution, but concluded that due process required disclosure of exculpatory evidence: "Given the significant liberty interests at stake in cases under the Act, and considering the importance of scrupulously ensuring the fairness of judicial proceedings that may result in indefinite commitment of a person determined to be sexually dangerous, we find the principles of *Brady* apply in this type of case." Id. at 784 (internal quotations and citation omitted).

In California, the court concluded that "a prosecution's *Brady* discovery obligations logically apply in" sexual offender commitment cases because "civil commitment proceedings fundamentally involve a deprivation of liberty comparable to criminal proceedings." *People v. McClinton*, 240 Cal. Rptr. 3d 775, 799 (Ct. App. 2018) (depublished).

The state argues these decisions should carry little weight because they lacked analysis, and extended *Brady* by "simply observing significant liberty interests at stake." (Petitioner's Brief at 33) (quotation marks omitted). First, a claim that the *Edwards* decision lacked analysis grossly

Edwards decision lacked misrepresents the court's detailed consideration of both the respondent's interests and the government's interests. Second, the analysis is sufficiently logical that in-depth discussion is not necessary. A person facing involuntary civil commitment is entitled to considerable due process rights in light of the significant liberty interests at stake. The Supreme Court held in *Brady* that due process requires a prosecutor to disclose evidence favorable to a person facing a loss of personal liberty. Therefore, the right to exculpatory evidence should extend to involuntary civil commitment in order to protect the accused's weighty liberty interests. Due process demands that government—"a potent the entity with vast resources"-not be permitted to seek involuntary and indefinite commitment of a person while suppressing evidence tending so show that the commitment is improper.

Moreover, the cases from Washington and Texas—where *Brady* protections were not applied did not actually analyze the issue at all. In Texas, the respondent sought to depose a state expert under Brady, but the trial court quashed the subpoena. In re Commitment of Alexander, 2013 WL 2444184, *1 (Tex. App. May 30, 2013). The appellate court reviewed this as a discovery question, not a legal the trial question. and deferred to court's discretionary decision. Id., *1. The court simply stated that the rules of civil procedure applied to civil commitment, and concluded the trial court had not abused its discretion when quashing the subpoena. Id., *1-*2. The court did not consider whether Brady offered additional protections beyond the rules of civil procedure.

Likewise, the Washington court did not address the issue, holding that the respondent could not show that the suppressed evidence was material, so even if *Brady* applied, he would not be entitled to relief. *In re West*, 147 Wash. App. 1017, 2008 WL 4867147, *5 (2008).

> D. The state's arguments that *Brady* should not apply to ch. 980 commitments are unpersuasive.

The state argues it does not need to turn over data where the suppressed evidence might simply lead to a favorable discovery. (Petitioner's Brief at 28). But the evidence in this case is not merely potentially exculpatory. Type has established that it is, in fact, exculpatory. The base rate of re-offense for persons subjected to an SPE is only seven percent (47:48-49), far below the threshold for commitment, and one third the base rate for offenders in the highrisk/high-needs group that Tyre used to justify committing Jendusa. (47:50.) As argued in Section I, this evidence is exculpatory because it tends to show that Jendusa does not meet the criteria for commitment, and because it could be used to impeach Jendusa can legitimately argue Tvre. that comparison to Wisconsin offenders is the most reliable way to assess recidivism risk (45:55, 69-70, 72-73; 47:49-50), so reliance on other samples is a proper subject for impeachment.

The state also complains that *Brady* has no bearing in the pretrial context. (Petitioner's Brief at

30-31.) Indeed, Brady is generally a post-conviction remedy, where a defendant alleges a *violation* of *Brady. See, e.g., Strickler v. Greene*, 527 U.S. 263, 281 (1999). But *Brady*'s command is directed at the prosecution's pretrial obligation to disclose evidence, so while this case does not present a vehicle to determine whether the state has already violated *Brady*, it remains an ideal vehicle to define the state's constitutional obligation to disclose evidence favorable to a person facing indefinite commitment. Indeed, it would be preferable to define the state's obligations now, rather than run the risk of having a second trial if the state is found to have violated *Brady* at the first.

The state argues that *Brady* need not apply to civil commitment because it is non-punitive confinement, unlike imprisonment. (Petitioner's Brief at 31-32.) The state also points out that civil commitment is not final, because a person may seek discharge or supervised release. (Petitioner's Brief at 32.) But civil commitment's lack of finality is not a mark in the state's favor. Civil commitment is indefinite, and could plausibly last much longer than a criminal sentence. The "significant deprivation of liberty" caused by civil commitment "requires due process protection." Foucha, 504 U.S. at 80. And due process protects a person's right to exculpatory evidence. Brady, 373 U.S. at 86.

Finally, the state points out that the discovery statute already requires the prosecution to disclose exculpatory evidence under Wis. Stat. § 980.036(2)(j). (Petitioner's Brief at 33.) But the statute has no effect on Jendusa's *constitutional* rights. The criminal discovery statute has a similar provision, Wis. Stat. § 971.23(1)(h), but that does not render a defendant's constitutional right to exculpatory evidence any more robust.

This Court should extend Brady to cover ch. 980 commitment proceedings. The state has no legitimate interest in suppressing exculpatory evidence before seeking to involuntarily commit an individual, and the extraordinary threat to personal liberty created by involuntary commitment warrants the application of Brady.

V. This Court should dismiss this appeal as improvidently granted and adhere to the longstanding rule that it will not review court of appeals' decisions denying permissive review. If the Court chooses to reach the merits, it should require the court of appeals to provide reasons for denying permissive appeals.

This case is before the Court on review of a court of appeals decision denying the state's petition for leave to appeal a nonfinal order. This Court has repeatedly held that it will not review "the court of appeals' discretionary determination to grant or deny a permissive appeal." *Leavitt v. Beverly Enterprises, Inc.*, 2010 WI 71, ¶44, 326 Wis. 2d 421, 784 N.W.2d 683; *Aparacor, Inc. v. Dep't of Indus., Labor & Human Relations*, 97 Wis. 2d 399, 403, 293 N.W.2d 545, 547 (1980); *State v. Jenich*, 94 Wis. 2d 74, 77 n.2, 288 N.W.2d 114 (1980); *State v. Whitty*, 86 Wis.2d 380, 388, 272 N.W.2d 842 (1978). Consistent with

Filed 09-18-2020

that longstanding rule, this Court should dismiss this appeal as improvidently granted.

The court of appeals exercises discretion when deciding whether to accept a permissive appeal. *Aparacor*, 97 Wis. 2d at 403. The procedure for permissive appeals was enacted "to discourage interlocutory appeals" and to "avoid unnecessary interruptions and delay in the trial court" as well as "to reduce the burden on the appellate courts." *Bearns v. ILHR Department*, 102 Wis. 2d 70, 74, 306 N.W.2d 22 (1981).

"The language of [this Court's] case law is strong. We have stated that '[w]here the court of appeals denies permission to appeal from an order conceded by the parties to be nonfinal, no review by this court is permitted." *Leavitt*, 2010 WI 71, ¶45. This Court does not review these discretionary decisions because (1) this Court only reviews court of appeals decisions "which finally determine[] the matter presented," and a court of appeals order denying permissive appeal does not satisfy that requirement, *Jenich*, 94 Wis. 2d at 77 n.2, and (2) granting review of the court of appeals' decision denying a permissive appeal "would divest the court of appeals of the discretion entrusted to is by sec. 808.03(2)." *Aparacor*, 97 Wis. 2d at 404.

This Court also rejects such appeals to prevent unnecessary delays in litigation, and to discourage a flood of petitions for review to this Court. *In Interest of J.S.R.*, 111 Wis. 2d 261, 263, 330 N.W.2d 217 (1983) (quoting *Jenich*, 94 Wis. 2d at 96 (Coffey, J., dissenting). For these reasons, this Court should adhere to its longstanding rule of denying such petitions and dismiss this appeal as improvidently granted.

However, if the Court chooses to set aside this long-standing precedent and address the merits of the case, Jendusa agrees with the state that the court of appeals should be required to exercise discretion "on a rational and explainable basis" by explaining the reasons for denying a petition under Wis. Stat. § 809.50. State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, ¶49, 270 Wis. 2d535. 678 N.W.2d 197. "Discretion is not synonymous with decision-making. Rather, the term contemplates a process of reasoning. This process must depend on facts that are of record or that are reasonably derived by inference from the record and a conclusion based on a logical rationale founded upon proper legal standards." McCleary v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 277, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971).

The reasons for granting a permissive appeal are outlined in Wis. Stat. § 808.03(2). The court of appeals should hear a permissive appeal only if the appeal will: (1) materially advance the termination of the litigation or clarify further proceedings in the litigation, (2) protect the petitioner from substantial or irreparable injury, or (3) clarify an issue of general importance in the administration of justice. Wis. Stat. § 808.03(2). The court of appeals should, at a minimum, "provide... a brief explanation of why a petition does not meet any of [those criteria]." (Petitioner's Brief at 37.)

In this case, however, even though the court of appeals did not provide a reasoned explanation for

Filed 09-18-2020

Page 57 of 62

denying the state's petition for leave to appeal, this Court should still search the record for reasons to sustain the lower court's decision. *State v. Evers*, 139 Wis. 2d 424, 452, 407 N.W.2d 256 (1987).

Here, the state argues that the court of appeals should have granted review because this case presents issues "of general importance in the administration of justice." (Petitioner's Brief at 38.) agrees that "[t]here Jendusa are virtually no appellate published unpublished, cases. or addressing" discovery under Wis. Stat. § 980.036. (Petitioner's Brief at 38). But review is not warranted analyze the unambiguous language of an to unambiguous statute. Moreover, the circuit court has not ordered a "third party to provide material that does not fall under the statute"; rather, it has ordered an arm of the state to disclose exculpatory information, which falls plainly within the discovery statute.

The state also argues that not hearing the appeal would cause irreparable injury. (Petitioner's Brief at 38.) But there is no risk of irreparable harm here. As discussed above, there are no legitimate concerns that disclosure of this data would violate state or federal law. Jendusa has already been granted access to the data pursuant to the DOC's policy for disclosure of confidential records. (27:1; 47:24.) Moreover, Jendusa is willing to stipulate to an amended order granting him access to the non-health information in the database.

For these reasons, this Court should affirm the court of appeals' discretionary decision denying the

state's petition for leave to appeal, and dismiss this appeal. However, if the Court decides to reach the merits, it should require the court of appeals to explain the reasons for granting or denying permissive appeals.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons argued above, this Court should dismiss the state's appeal as improvidently granted. If the Court elects to reach the merits of the case, it should affirm the decision of the circuit court, and remand for the state to disclose the DOC database. Alternatively, Jendusa would stipulate to an amended circuit court order, granting him access only to the fields of data identified in his request under Directive 36. (53:28.)